1959

# Walker Bank and Trust Co. v. New York Terminal Warehouse Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The District Court of Salt Lake County, Hon. Merrill C. Faux presiding, entered money judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant. The defendant has appealed from the judgment.

The complaint, following a conversion theory, claimed that defendant, New York Terminal Warehouse Company,

without authority from the plaintiff bank, wrongfully delivered plaintiff's merchandise to a third person (R. 1-2). Defendant pleaded a warehousing agreement with plaintiff, claiming delivery in accordance with that agreement, estoppel of plaintiff to claim conversion, and payment (R. 15-17). The pre-trial order reframed the issues to show that the plaintiff claimed justification in delivering by virtue of an agreement between plaintiff and defendant and another agreement between plaintiff and John R. Woods. The estoppel issue was retained as to each delivery and all deliveries (R. 18-22).

Trial was before the Hon. Merrill C. Faux, sitting without a jury. Plaintiff introduced a statement of indebtedness of John R. Woods to it (R. 35, Exh. P-1); twelve warehouse receipts issued by defendant (R. 36, Exh. P-2); five delivery orders showing delivery of merchandise to John R. Woods, together with five checks drawn on plaintiff and signed by Woods (R. 36, Exh. P-3); a summary of values of items claimed to have been converted (R. 37, Exh. P-4), and instructions to defendant's storekeeper (R. 37, Exh. P-7).

Having introduced the above exhibits, plaintiff rested and objected to the introduction of evidence by defendant (R. 42). Defendant thereupon moved for judgment of nonsuit of the ground that the plaintiff had not made a *prima facie* case (R. 42, 47, 49). The Court overruled both motions (R. 49 and 65), and defendant proceeded with its proof.

Defendant produced not only the material documentary evidence relating to receipts and deliveries of merchandise, but called as its witnesses (or introduced deposition testimony of) all the individuals most directly connected with the trans-



actions at the times they occurred: C. J. Holt, defendant's vice-president in charge of West Coast sales and operations (R. 65-66); H. A. Robbins, who was, during the course of the transactions, manager and vice-president of plaintiff's Murray branch, with general authority to bind the plaintiff in contract and to make loans (R. 21, 108), and who handled the transactions for plaintiff; John R. Woods, an appliance jobber indebted to the plaintiff, and with reference to whose business the warehouse receipts had been issued in the first place (R. 188); and Harvey R. Moorehead, a former employee of defendant, who had been storekeeper in the defendant's warehouse during much of the time material to the action (R. 143).

These four were the *dramatis personae*. Their testimony, as the following resume shows, contained substantially similar stories of the series of transactions involving plaintiff, defendant, and John R. Woods.

*Testimony of C. J. Holt.* In the spring of 1936 Holt met with H. A. Robbins and John R. Woods in plaintiff's Murray Branch bank, Woods having asked Holt to discuss with Robbins the possibility of issuing warehouse receipts to the bank against stored merchandise as a credit arrangement for Woods (R. 66). It was agreed that warehouse receipts might be issued to the bank and that the bank and Woods would arrange the method of handling the loan, but no definitive agreement was reached at that time (R. 67). Holt heard nothing more concerning the transaction until the storekeeper at the Salt Lake warehouse sent papers to defendant's Los Angeles office with a request that warehouse receipts be issued to the bank. Receipts

were issued (R. 67). Again silence. Nothing further was heard from the bank until deliveries had been made to Woods and a delivery order (authorizing such delivery) had come in signed by the bank (R. 67). Except for periodic receipt of such signed delivery orders, defendant's next communication from the bank was a letter dated October 16, 1956 (R. 68). The letter, Exhibit D-5, is reprinted in Appendix A. Holt wrote a reply letter to plaintiff stating that he took the October 16th letter to mean that the warehouseman was authorized to deliver the goods upon receipt of a check from Woods. This letter, together with a suggested warehouse agreement between plaintiff and defendant, is reprinted as Appendixes B and C. Defendant received no reply to its letter, and attempts by Holt to contact Robbins personally proved unsuccessful (R. 68-69).

Defendant maintains a record system as a means of keeping constant control over stored merchandise. Upon receipt of goods in the warehouse a receiving report is sent to defendant's Los Angeles office by the local storekeeper. From that report Los Angeles prepares warehouse receipts and forwards them to the warehouse receipt holder (plaintiff), sending one copy to the storekeeper, retaining another copy, and forwarding one to the New York office for processing on IBM cards. Each day the local storekeeper sends in a report showing whether or not he received or delivered merchandise during the course of the particular day. As deliveries are made, the storekeeper prepares delivery orders for merchandise that has been shipped and posts his copy of the delivery order to his copy of the warehouse receipt. He sends copies of the delivery order to Los Angeles on the day of its issue. There the delivery order is recorded and forwarded to the IBM department for

processing. The storekeeper's records include a copy of the receiving report, the warehouse receipt under which it is stored, and the delivery order. The warehouse receipt copy is kept posted to reflect the amount of material remaining in the warehouse under that receipt (R. 70).

Los Angeles keeps a running account of merchandise in each of its field warehouses. One of the records is a control sheet on which the information on the daily reports is recorded as they are received from the storekeeper—one daily report being received for each day. The information from the daily report is also recorded on the copy of the delivery order received from the storekeeper. The information is passed on to the IBM department for processing. Receipt of the white copy of the delivery order at the Los Angeles office gives the employees there notice that the original of the delivery order is somewhere along the route of storekeeper to receipt holder to Los Angeles office.

A file of the daily reports is maintained together with warehouse receipt copies and delivery order originals. In addition to the white copy of the delivery order, sent to it directly by the storekeeper, Los Angeles receives the original signed delivery order from the bank. The originals usually come in by mail; upon being received they are opened and time-stamped; they thus show the exact date and time of receipt in the Los Angeles office (R. 71-72).

If, in checking its records, Los Angeles found it necessary to make corrections in an original delivery order, the bank would be notified of the error, which usually would be with reference to a lot number or a model number or a serial number

or "some such minor correction" (R. 72). From the various reports received from the storekeeper and the bank the Los Angeles office would prepare a "stock and value report," which is an IBM tabulated report of the activity of the inventory (R. 77). It was defendant's practice, at the time of audits of the warehouse, to bring the IBM report up to date from the records of the storekeeper, physically check the inventory and, upon return of the auditors to the Los Angeles office, to verify that delivery orders had been received from the warehouse receipt holders clearing all inventory that had been delivered since the last IBM report. Once a month a copy of the "stock and value" report was forwarded to plaintiff and another copy to the storekeeper. There was an "automatic" check to see that the warehouse company had delivery orders to cover all goods theretofore delivered. At the time of auditing the warehouse, merchandise shown by the report to be in the warehouse was physically inventoried (R. 78). If goods were missing from the warehouse defendant would request a delivery order from the bank (R. 79).

Defendant interpreted the plaintiff's October 16th letter as meaning defendant should deliver merchandise on receipt of a check (R. 82) and construed plaintiff's failure to answer defendant's November 12th letter as an acceptance of this construction (R. 84). The purpose of the enclosure with defendant's letter (Appendix C) was to permit the bank to place additional restrictions upon the delivery of materials so that it might protect itself further (R. 88).

On or about May 6, 1957, T. B. Akeley, an auditor in defendant's Los Angeles office, sent a communication to the

Salt Lake storekeeper telling him that "until further notice from me or from my Los Angeles office no further goods may be delivered or removed from our leased warehouse area." On about May 10, 1957, Holt went to Salt Lake City to close out the warehouse. At that time he prepared a delivery order for the five or six units remaining in the warehouse, obtained a check from Woods, and personally mailed check and delivery order to the bank.

In his capacity as vice-president of New York Terminal Warehouse Company Holt made inspections of the field warehouse in Salt Lake City (R. 223). He made inspections in July of 1956 and in December of 1956 at which time he checked the physical inventory at the warehouse against the IBM records at the office (R. 223). In December of 1956 the inventory agreed with the company records (R. 223).

*Testimony of H. A. Robbins.* Robbins did most of plaintiff's work with Woods (R. 211). He recalled setting up a loan arrangement for Woods (R. 110) and would possibly have discussed it with Woods (R. 111). He recalled that the merchandise would be paid for by checks, that John R. Woods' checks were acceptable as payments, and that it was not his understanding that Woods would have to come to the bank first before withdrawing material from the warehouse (R. 111, 118, 120).

During the operation of the warehousing agreement he received delivery orders from the storekeeper (R. 113) or from Woods (R. 113). He would sign one and send it to Los Angeles (R. 114), but he would hold the delivery orders until the Woods' check was paid (R. 114, 125). Frequently he would

hold a check until deposits had been made into the account by Woods (R. 115). He knew that Woods was a "merchandise jobber" and that such jobbers ordinarily sell to retailers (R. 115).

When Robbins sent the letter to defendant on October 16, 1956, it was not his intention to make any change in the way warehousing was being handled (R. 117).

Robbins saw Woods frequently—about "twice a week" (R. 119). Three or four times between April of 1956 (when the first delivery orders were issued) and May of 1957 (when the warehouse was closed), agents or employees of the bank made inspections of the warehouse "in a general way" (R. 121). The inspectors would examine the quarters to see whether the merchandise was properly set aside and taken care of; they would compare serial numbers on the delivery orders (R. 121). It was their duty to report shortages to the bank (R. 121). Robbins testified a second time that bank inspectors were sent to look at the goods (R. 217). Plaintiff bank never told the warehouse company that conditions were unsatisfactory (R. 217). There must have been a report to the bank (R. 219). On one or two occasions there were a couple of units "that might not have been there," and this was mentioned to Robbins by a field man (R. 200). When shortages were found plaintiff called them to the attention of Woods, not defendant, whereupon Woods would give delivery orders (R. 220, 221).

Delivery orders received by the bank showed on their face that the merchandise had been received by Woods (R. 122). The bank would sign them later (R. 122) although they were already signed by Woods (R. 122). The last five

delivery orders, for which the action was brought, were found by Robbins on his desk (R. 123). It was usual for him to find delivery orders on his desk (R. 123). Prior to closing of the warehouse Woods had mentioned to Robbins that it would be closed (R. 124) and had made arrangements for a cashier's check with which to pay storage charges (R. 124).

During the time in which Woods was using the warehouse receipt arrangement he was overdraft with the bank part of the time, and at other times the bank paid checks from his account even though there was no money in it (R. 127, 128). He knew that in purchasing goods from wholesalers some retail dealers "floored" their units (R. 128). It was not Mr. Robbins' understanding that the bank would take any steps in connection with the delivery orders before merchandise was removed from the warehouse (R. 212). When a delivery order was received with a check from John R. Woods, it was assumed that the goods had been delivered by the time the bank got the delivery order (R. 213), or would be without the bank doing anything further (R. 213, 214). The trial judge stated that this is what he would take Mr. Robbins' testimony to mean (R. 216).

*Testimony of John R. Woods.* John R. Woods ran a distributing business in Salt Lake City during which time he had dealings with Walker Bank, particularly with Robbins, for four or five years (R. 189-190). With reference to merchandise in defendant's warehouse, it was Woods' agreement with the bank that he could take the merchandise out and then pay Walker for it (R. 190). Robbins agreed to hold the checks for him (R. 190), and checks given for the merchandise didn't

have to be made good immediately. This was okay with Robbins (R. 191). It was the practice of Woods to go to the bank sometimes two or three times per week (R. 191). The bank would hold checks until Woods was able to cover them (R. 192-199). Most of the time there was not enough in the account to cover the checks (R. 199). It was his practice to have the bonded warehouseman (storekeeper) make the checks out, then the delivery orders and checks would be given to Robbins (R. 193). When defendant's agents came to Salt Lake City "every thirty days or so" the accounts had to balance (R. 201); and they usually did balance (R. 201). Signed checks were left in the office (R. 207) and were to be filled in, sometimes, but not necessarily, by the bonded agent (R. 206). The last group of delivery orders may have been delivered in part by Woods and part by mail (R. 206).

*Testimony of Harvey R. Moorehead.* Moorehead was defendant's storekeeper at the Salt Lake City warehouse, charged with the duty of maintaining the warehouse and receiving payment for the goods (R. 144). He was also employed by Woods (R. 143, 144). At all times during his tenure as a storekeeper he had in his possession blank checks signed by Woods (R. 144). It was Woods' practice to remove goods from the warehouse, Moorehead making notes of the numbers to accumulate a sufficient number to be included in a single order (R. 146). The delivery orders sometimes would be taken by Woods to the bank personally and sometimes sent. The copy of each delivery order was sent to Los Angeles on the day it was made out (R. 145, 146).

Inventories of the merchandise in the warehouse were



made from time to time by both plaintiff and defendant (R. 146). If defendant's agents discovered shortages they would clear them up and obtain a check (R. 146); but when shortages were discovered by the bank, the bank representative "would go directly to Mr. Woods," then Moorehead would do what Woods told him (R. 147). Woods made arrangements with plaintiff's vice-president, Robbins, to pay for the merchandise (R. 147).

The signed check maintained in the possession of Mr. Moorehead at all times was not actually filled in with an amount or payee or date until a delivery order was made up (R. 149).

Woods did some flooring with Refrigeration Distributors Corporation (R. 154). During Moorehead's tenure as store-keeper merchandise did not leave the warehouse without his knowledge nor were others permitted to enter unless he accompanied them (R. 182); and at all times he had a blank check signed by Woods (R. 183). Woods told Moorehead that the bank, through Robbins, would give Woods a personal loan to pay for any goods removed from the warehouse (R. 185). Moorehead took orders at times from both Woods and defendant (R. 186-187).

Counsel for plaintiff cross-examined Moorehead at length concerning testimony given at a hearing in connection with Woods' bankruptcy (R. 153 et seq.). At the prior hearing Moorehead testified that the "shipment date" shown on invoices would probably be the date upon which merchandise was shipped from the warehouse (R. 155). Counsel did not ask the witness whether he would still so testify. Counsel

pointed out that some invoices did not contain a date of shipment and asked whether he had not testified at the previous hearing that the "invoice date" would represent also the date of shipment (R. 164). The witness answered that if he had said that it "wouldn't be right" (R. 164). As to some merchandise the invoices (Exhibits P-15 through P-19) showed an earlier "shipment date" than the date of delivery shown on the delivery orders (Exhibit P-3).

On redirect Moorehead testified that the "shipment date" would mean the date merchandise was "shipped or transferred," and that it might or might not have been delivered at that time. "Part of the merchandise would have been delivered, possibly all of it, possibly none of it" (R. 173). When counsel asked the witness to explain and amplify his testimony at the prior bankruptcy proceedings the trial judge interposed. He indicated that the witness was probably a perjurer, adding that if there was a variance between the witness' testimony in this action and that in the other proceeding a complaint would be issued (R. 175). Nevertheless, the trial judge would not permit counsel to offer evidence which would explain the apparent difference in the testimony and perforce rehabilitate the witness. Defendant offered to prove that the witness would testify that in response to a further question by Mr. Holbrook at the bankruptcy proceeding, and as part of the same paragraph in which he had been interrogated as to the meaning of the invoices, he had stated, with reference to a question as to the difference between the dates on the invoices and the dates on the delivery orders that "the only explanation that I might give would be that they were not taken from the warehouse" on the earlier date; and that on more specific questioning

Moorehead had testified that this must be so because the warehouse people made periodic inspections and the goods would have had to have been in the warehouse. The Court rejected this offer on the ground that it was "speculative" (R. 182).

*The Exhibits.* Twenty-two exhibits were introduced, some primarily formal, others containing substantial evidence of the course of dealings between the parties. The documentary evidence as a whole corroborates the picture of the transaction as drawn by the four principal witnesses.

Exhibit P-1 supports the evidence that the warehouse receipts were being used as security for plaintiff's extension of credit to Woods. Two notes representing Woods' indebtedness were dated February 6, 1957. Exhibit P-2 consists of 12 warehouse receipts upon which plaintiff based its action. Exhibit P-3 consists of 5 delivery orders, one having two pages, accompanied by 5 checks, all of which contained signatures of John R. Woods in the appropriate places. It is the merchandise listed on these delivery orders of which the plaintiff claims conversion. The values of the various items are set forth in Exhibit P-4, being in some instances less than the "declared value" shown on the warehouse receipts.

Exhibits D-5 and D-6, which are printed at length in Appendixes A, B and C, comprise the only exchange of correspondence between the plaintiff and the defendant relating to the warehousing arrangement. Exhibit D-5 shows that on October 16, 1956, the vice-president of the plaintiff's Murray branch wrote to defendant that it was the bank's policy that the goods would "be paid for at the time they are withdrawn." By Exhibit D-6 defendant informed plaintiff that it interpreted

plaintiff's letter "to authorize delivery from the warehouse upon the receipt, by our storekeeper, of a check for John R. Woods Company," and suggested a long-form agreement under which plaintiff could place limits upon the quantity of merchandise to be delivered in any one day, fix the percentage of declared dollar value of the merchandise to be delivered and, among other things, place upon the warehouse company a contractual obligation to mail delivery orders and checks to the bank within a stated period.

Exhibit P-7 is a standard form of instruction to storekeepers used by the defendant company, containing instructions to Moorehead.

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