1959

# Walker Bank and Trust Co. v. New York Terminal Warehouse Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT NO. 1

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT MADE DELIVERY OF GOODS COVERED BY NONNEGOTIABLE WAREHOUSE RECEIPTS HELD BY PLAINTIFF WITHOUT AUTHORITY FROM PLAINTIFF AS REQUIRED BY THE UTAH UNIFORM WAREHOUSE RECEIPTS ACT.

The warehouse receipts were issued under the Uniform Warehouse Receipts Act, found in Title 72, Utah Code Annotated 1953, wherein under Section 72-1-2 it is provided that in the case of nonnegotiable receipts the receipts should provide that the goods will be delivered to a specific person. In the light of this section and since the warehouse

receipts are designated as nonnegotiable, the receipts must be construed as providing that the goods described therein would be delivered upon the written order of plaintiff for whose account the goods were stored. The warehouse receipts so provide. In addition, the delivery orders issued by the defendant warehouse addressed to it, and delivered to the plaintiff bank for its signature, provide that "you are hereby authorized to deliver to John R. Woods Company" the goods described in the delivery order, which goods are likewise described in the warehouse receipts held by the bank. Hence, the delivery orders supplied by the warehouse company for use in all of the transactions with plaintiff expressly recognize the statutory requirement that defendant deliver said goods only to a person "who has written authority from" plaintiff.

The provisions of the Utah statute applicable to this action concerning nonnegotiable warehouse receipts are as follows:

"72-1-9. Justification of warehouseman in delivering.—A warehouseman is justified in delivering the goods, subject to the provisions of the three following sections, to one who is:

"(1) The person lawfully entitled to the possession of the goods, or his agent;

"(2) A person who is either himself entitled to delivery by the terms of a nonnegotiable receipt issued for the goods, or who has written authority from the person so entitled either indorsed upon the receipt or written upon another paper; or \* \* \*

\* \* \*

"72-1-10. Warehouseman's liability for misdelivery.—Where a warehouseman delivers the goods

to one who is not in fact lawfully entitled to the possession of them, the warehouseman shall be liable as for conversion to all having a right of property or possession in the goods, if he delivers the goods otherwise than as authorized by subdivisions (2) \* \* \* of the preceding section; \* \* \*."

The warehouse receipts in question provide that the "responsibility of the warehouseman with respect to the goods in storage is defined in the Uniform Warehouse Receipts Act of the State wherein the warehouse is located."

Defendant contends that someone other than the plaintiff bank was entitled to possession of the goods covered by the warehouse receipts held by plaintiff, and, therefore, that the written authority required by the statute was unnecessary. Finding No. 2 entered by the trial court in this action provides as follows:

"At all times herein mentioned plaintiff was, and now is, the lawful holder of said warehouse receipts, entitled to delivery of the goods therein named by the terms of said receipts, and lawfully entitled to possession of the goods named therein and hereinbelow described."

Hence, the trial court has found that the contract between the parties is as contained in the warehouse receipts, which incorporates the Utah act by reference. The elements under the Utah statute are found in plaintiff's favor, including the element that plaintiff is lawfully entitled to possession of the goods covered by the warehouse receipts. As set forth in detail in the Statement of Facts, Mr. C. J. Holt, Vice President of defendant, recognized that as far as the



defendant was concerned the goods belonged to the bank, were stored for the account of the bank, and that the bank was the owner and entitled to possession of the goods once the warehouse receipts had been issued.

The contention of defendant's counsel that someone other than the bank was entitled to possession of the goods violates the express terms of the warehouse receipts prepared and issued by defendant, is in derogation of the express terms of the statute, contradictory of the statements of defendant's officer who was in charge of this warehouse, contrary to the evidence and findings of the lower court, and unsupported by defendant's authorities. *Moe v. American Ice & Cold Storage Company*, 30 Wash. 2d 51, 190 P. 2d 755 (not a warehouseman — depositor relationship); *George v. Bekins Van & Storage Company*, 33 Cal. 2d 834, 205 P. 2d 1037 (goods destroyed by fire — case decided on the language of the warehouse receipt itself); *Wood v. Crocker First National Bank, et al.*, 107 Cal. App. 685, 291 Pac. 221 (actual agency established by recorded power of attorney); *Travers v. Burdge, et al.*, 101 N. J. 237, 127 Atl. 191 (depositor in default under mortgage and delivered to mortgagee pursuant to mortgage); *Bunnell v. Ward, et al.*, 241 Mich. 404, 217 N. W. 68 (goods deposited by partnership and delivered to one of the partners); *Farmers' Union Warehouse Company v. Barnett, et al.*, 214 Ala. 202, 107 So. 46 (undisputed title in third party).

Apparently, defendant's counsel reaches this interpretation on the basis of alleged defenses which we will consider in subsequent portions of this brief. The basic fallacy of defendant's argument is that defendant would have the

appellate court review the evidence and draw inferences contrary to those drawn by the trial court.

The scope of the appellate court's review in this case is so firmly established that we cite only a few of the many Utah cases on this subject. In *Lynn v. Thompson*, 112 Utah 24, 184 P. 2d 667, it was stated:

"But the lower court has seen fit to reject defendant's version of the case and the question for us to decide is not which of the two sides should be believed. We are called upon to decide whether or not there is evidence in the case that will directly or by inference support the decision of the trier of the facts. In deciding that question we decide merely—so far as circumstantial evidence is concerned—that if there are inferences to be drawn therefrom that will support the lower court's conclusions upon the probabilities of that evidence, we are bound to uphold the decision, even though had we been trying the case we might have stressed the inferences adversely to such a conclusion."

See also *John C. Cutler Association v. DeJay Stores*, 3 U. 2d 107, 279 P. 2d 700; *Adler v. Clark*, 122 Utah 472, 251 P. 2d 669.

As further evidence supporting the findings of the trial court that the contract between the parties consisted of the elements contained in the Utah Uniform Warehouse Receipts Act, the statement of facts herein reviews in some detail the testimony of defendant's witness, H. A. Robbins, who testified that signed delivery orders were not forwarded to defendant until checks had been paid; that as far as he knew, in instances when he held a delivery order

until the check accompanying the same had been cleared, the goods were still in the warehouse; and that he had no agreement with Woods or the warehouse company that the goods could be taken from the warehouse prior to the time the delivery order was signed as required by the Utah statute. Corroborating the testimony of Mr. Robbins are the instructions of Mr. T. B. Akeley, an auditor in defendant's Los Angeles office, particularly concerning the warehouse in which the subject goods were stored, accepted by Mr. Moorehead, the defendant's storekeeper under date of April 3, 1957, more than a month before defendant closed said warehouse, which instructions reiterated the statutory duties of defendant and state expressly that the defendant's storekeeper "*must actually have in his possession a delivery order specifying the goods to be delivered, signed by an individual authorized to sign for the BANK before any goods can be delivered.*" (Emphasis added.) As shown by the Statement of Facts herein, defendant's interoffice communications which for convenience of the court appear in the appendix to this brief, show that the defendant decided to assume the risk of delivery of the goods without written authorization from the bank.

Even under facts which show an agreement on the part of the warehouse receipt holder not to require written authorization, which does not exist under the evidence and findings in this case, the courts construe the statute literally and nonetheless require a written authorization. In the case of *Farmers' Bank of Weston v. Ellis*, 122 Ore. 266, 258 Pac. 186, one John H. Grafton deposited potatoes with the defendant who issued negotiable warehouse receipts.

The defendant alleged that Grafton had entered into an agreement with plaintiff bank that the sale of the perishable potatoes would be negotiated by Grafton as agent for the bank and that Grafton would deposit the proceeds from the sale of the potatoes with the bank and the warehouse receipts would be returned to Grafton as the sales and deposits were made. Defendant further alleged that this agreement was in accordance with general banking custom and recognized by the parties. Defendant further contended that by inadvertence the particular warehouse receipts involved in the action were not returned to Grafton by the plaintiff. After a verdict for the defendant, plaintiff appealed citing as error the instructions of the trial court. The Supreme Court of Oregon held that even assuming the validity of the facts which defendant alleged to exist, there was no defense to the action and the judgment was reversed and a new trial directed. In the opinion the court cites a provision of the Uniform Warehouse Receipts Act which is identical to our Section 72-1-10 and provisions of 8018 Oregon Laws which are identical to our 72-1-11. The whole tenor of the opinion is that written authority is required by the statute. While the receipts involved in the *Ellis* case were negotiable, the dissenting opinion recognizes that the bank was the person rightfully entitled to possession and had not transferred the receipts to a bona fide purchaser. Hence, the negotiability or nonnegotiability of the receipts in no way is necessary to the court's conclusions and reasoning since the effect of negotiating comes into play only when the warehouseman fails to take up a receipt and it has been transferred for value to a bona fide purchaser.

This element is not involved in the *Ellis* case nor in our case and does not add nor detract from the rule for which the *Ellis* case is cited. The Supreme Court of Oregon holds:

“We take it that the object of the law, as shown by its many provisions, was to see that each step taken, beginning with the deposit in the warehouse and the issuing of the receipt to the final delivery of the goods by the warehouseman to the holder of the receipt, should be evidenced by some statement in writing, so as to completely preclude any attempt by an unauthorized person to get possession of the property.”

In the second appeal of this case, *Farmers' Bank of Weston v. Ellis*, 126 Ore. 602, 268 Pac. 1009, the Supreme Court of Oregon affirmed its previous holding and stated that any contractual dealings between the bank and the depositor of the goods are immaterial; in the case now before the court, Mr. Holt states expressly that he had no knowledge of contractual negotiations between plaintiff and Woods, and Holt admits that any dealings between the bank and Woods were of no concern to the warehouse company.

Concerning the dissent which appears in the first *Ellis* decision, it is interesting to note that J. Rand, who dissented, finally concurred with a unanimous court in the second appeal. The dissent is important because it reviews facts which did not affect the judgment of the majority, and more important, do not exist in any degree in the present litigation: the oral contract was clear and express and conformed with general custom; the bank was tendered the proceeds of the sale which was for the full market

value of the goods; there was a showing of agency by an express agreement. As indicated above, we cite this case because it demonstrates the policy of the law requiring written authority even under extreme facts; we do not concede that such facts reviewed in the *Ellis* case exist in the case now before the court. Indeed, the evidence and findings expressly negate the existence of such facts.

In the case of *Voyt v. Bekins Moving & Storage Company*, 169 Ore. 30, 119 P. 2d 586, the court states that a warehouse receipt ordinarily constitutes the contract between the parties and holds that the right to insert in the warehouse receipt terms and conditions other than those required by statute does not give to such terms the force of contract unless it can be fairly said that the minds of the parties have met thereon. We will again call attention to this rule when we discuss the affirmative defenses raised by defendant in this action.

Defendant attempts to avoid the judgment on the untenable theory that plaintiff failed to make out a prima facie case because plaintiff had made no demand of defendant for return of the goods and had failed to make an offer to satisfy the warehouseman's lien. In the first place, contrary to defendant's contention, there is no question before this appellate court as to whether plaintiff made out a prima facie case when it rested at the conclusion of its evidence in chief and defendant interposed a motion to dismiss (R. 42), as the court declined to render any judgment until the close of all the evidence (R. 49, 65, 74, 75), and then made findings of fact and conclusions of law and entered judgment herein on all the material and com-

petent evidence adduced by both parties. Rule 41(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Further, defendant waived its right to object on the ground its motion to dismiss was erroneously denied by proceeding to introduce evidence. *Century Indemnity Co. v. Nelson*, 90 F. 2d 644 (C. C. A. 9th, 1936).

Furthermore, the alleged failure of plaintiff to make a demand for the return of the goods or offer to satisfy defendant's warehouse charges did not operate to shift defendant's burden of proof. In the first place, defendant overlooks the undisputed fact that the warehouse charges had been paid and that defendant had delivered the goods to someone other than the plaintiff prior to defendant's closing the warehouse where the goods were stored. It is elementary that demand for delivery and tender of charges is not required where it would serve no useful purpose, such as when the warehouseman has received his storage charges and has put it out of his power to deliver the goods, "since a vain and useless act is not required by the depositor or receipt holder." 56 Am. Jur., Warehouse, Section 191; 93 C. J. S., Warehouseman and Safe Depositories, Sections 72c and 51; *State ex rel. Hermann Reitmeier v. Oakley*, 129 Wash. 553, 225 Pac. 425; *State v. Farmers' Elevator Company*, 59 N. D. 679, 231 N. W. 725; *Cody v. Müller*, 91 Ohio App. 36, 102 N. E. 2d 727. Hence, delivery of the goods without authority from the plaintiff "renders the warehouseman liable without a demand." 56 Am. Jur., Warehouse, Section 191. Moreover, under the general law in an action for conversion, the "defendant bears the burden of proof as to any affirmative matter set up by him

as a defense to the action." 53 Am. Jur., Trover and Conversion, Section 176.

## POINT NO. 2

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDINGS THAT DEFENDANT HAD NO LAWFUL EXCUSE FOR THE DELIVERY OF THE GOODS COVERED BY NONNEGOTIABLE WAREHOUSE RECEIPTS HELD BY PLAINTIFF.

The existence of a lawful excuse for delivery without having obtained written authority from plaintiff is pleaded and actually constitutes an affirmative defense to plaintiff's complaint, as to which defendant had the burden of proof. Defendant failed completely to discharge this burden. The only evidence offered by defendant concerns inspections made by defendant's officers and only general statements of the results of these inspections were offered in evidence. The reliability and probative value of the inspections were rendered meaningless by the admissions of defendant in its interoffice communications that shortages existed in the warehouse, that the warehouse was not being operated properly, and that Woods completely controlled the warehouse. Let us now consider the affirmative defenses raised by defendant.

*There was no written authority which authorized defendant to deliver the goods from the warehouse.*

The court entered findings as follows:

"At various times commencing on or about September 28, 1956, the defendant, in the absence of



lawful excuse, without authority from plaintiff, and contrary to its obligations and duties as a warehouseman, delivered to a person or persons who were not lawfully entitled to the possession thereof, nor entitled to delivery by the terms of the said receipts, nor having authority from the plaintiff who was so entitled, certain goods covered by said warehouse receipts.

\* \* \*

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